



## Value of Collaboration Research Study

## Literature Review on Funder Collaboration

By Alison Powell, Susan Wolf Ditkoff & Kate Hassey

Collaborating to accelerate social impact

Developed October 2018

## Table of Contents

Introduction	2
Key Takeaways	2
Literature Review Summary	5
A. Types of funder collaboratives	5
B. Value propositions and risks of funder collaboration	7
C. Perspectives on impact	8
D. Factors contributing to successful collaboration	9
E. Lessons from collaboratives that failed or faltered	10
F. Linking the identified research gaps to potential research questions	11
Quantitative Summary of Key Research Gaps	11
Annotated Bibliography: Priority Resources Summarized	
in Chronological Order	12
Appendix	
A. Priority resources by theme	
B. List of sources	
C. Illustrative list of funder collaborations	41
D. Acknowledgements	

## Introduction

Philanthropists—both foundations and high-net worth individuals—are working together on a wide range of issues from climate mitigation, to water policy, to youth development.

Funders typically pursue collaboration because they can bring expertise, relationships, and money together in a way that will produce results for society beyond the reach and capacity of any single donor. Much has been written to offer guidance to donors seeking whether and how to collaborate most effectively and efficiently. We have developed this literature review to compile the existing resources on funder collaboration—including a summary of common findings, the highest-value resources, and research gaps. This review includes an annotated bibliography summarizing the most useful documents and a list of illustrative collaborations to support readers eager to skim the research and practice before diving in more deeply.

This review encompasses academic research papers, practitioner blogs, and published articles and reports, as well as syntheses of field-specific research. We found and reviewed 125 pieces of literature: 65 percent were published by philanthropic advisors or intermediaries, (e.g., Bridgespan, the Center for Effective Philanthropy, FSG), 25 percent were published by foundations or practitioners (e.g., William and Flora Hewlett Foundation, Edna McConnell Clark Foundation), and 10 percent were published by academics or field researchers. Although we did include sources published from 2012 and before, most items in this review are from 2013 or later. While the overwhelming majority study US collaborations, global examples are included where possible.

## Key Takeaways

While much has been written about collaboratives, donors will find little in the way of quantitative or qualitative research to guide their deliberations about whether to join a group of likeminded funders in pursuit of a shared goal. Each collaborative is singular,

and there are no control groups for comparison purposes. They come with different geographic footprints, ranging from small to global. They tackle many types of issues. And they are highly individual and idiosyncratic in execution. The existing research is largely case study-based, with the extensive variation across collaboratives making it difficult to discern patterns across the case studies in a rigorous way. Even so, the literature yields a number of insights that reflect practical experience. Here are the key takeaways.

An open question is whether there are a common set of conditions that trigger (or should trigger) a collaborative to alter how it operates and, potentially, move to a different model, as well as clear guidance as to which collaborative model to select in the first place.

#### Types of collaborative models

Many of the materials we reviewed described collaborative models on a spectrum from loose to tight collective action, with information and knowledge exchanges at one end and formal joint ventures, new collaboratives, and re-granting entities at the other end. The key difference among models is the level of control that an individual donor cedes to the collaborative; that is, the distinction between pooling resources versus coordinating resources that remain under each collaborative member's individual control, and between collaboratives that coordinate or pool investment versus those that only exchange knowledge. An open question is whether there are a common set of conditions that trigger (or should trigger) a collaborative to alter how it operates and, potentially, move to a different model, as well as clear guidance as to which collaborative model to select in the first place.

#### **Benefits to collaboration**

In the literature, we found several frequently cited expected benefits of collaboration:

- More **money** for an issue, recognizing that no one funder alone can create change at the level of ambition being tackled by most of these collaboratives
- Participation in something at **a greater scale and visibility** than funders could do alone (including influencing systemic change)
- Increased effectiveness and better results than could be obtained solo, due to shared strategic thinking, diligence, monitoring, access to expanded expertise and networks, and so forth
- **Increased efficiency** of grantmaking (for both donors and grantees) due to a lower cost of capital and shared resources
- The ability to take on **increased risk**

#### **Success factors**

We also found several frequently cited success factors:

- Trusted relationships among participants
- Outstanding **leadership** within a well-designed, mutually agreed-upon governance and operating structure
- Clear goals with a flexible and adaptive strategy
- Processes in place for improvement and measurement

While all of the factors were important, many resources indicated that the human dimension is particularly critical.

#### Gaps in the literature

We did not identify studies that calculated a "return on investment" for collaboratives, nor any that offered good formulas for estimating the expected value of any one collaborative. It is our opinion, however, that such findings may not be feasible given research constraints. We did, however, identify at least four important gaps that we believe could benefit from targeted research, the first three of which are addressed in our study:

- 1. Limited focus on learning from collaboratives that failed or significantly faltered
- 2. Limited exploration of the grantee experience (except in a small number of case studies)—especially the benefits and costs for grantees receiving collaborative funding as opposed to grants from individual funders
- 3. Limited attention to diversity, equity, and inclusion
- 4. More focus on the experience of institutional funders than individual donors

## Literature Review Summary

## A. Types of funder collaboratives

Funder collaboratives lie on a spectrum from loose to tight control and integration: on one end there are information or knowledge exchanges and at the other end more formal joint ventures, new collaboratives, or re-granting entities. Authors most frequently note distinctions between "aligning" resources that remain under their individual control versus "pooling" resources into an entity with coordinated decision-making.

Authors have used different terms, but there was general agreement about the spectrum, the collaboration types, and where they lie along the spectrum. Here is an example: (Susan Wolf Ditkoff, "Long Spoon Problem," The Bridgespan Group, 2012; Willa Seldon and Judy Huang, "Lessons in Funder Collaboration: What the Packard Foundation Has Learned about Working with Other Funders", The Bridgespan Group, 2014):



- **Knowledge exchange:** Funders partner to exchange ideas and raise awareness. In this model, funders retain all decision rights. An example is Grantmakers for Education, which is "the largest and most diverse consortium of education philanthropists in the nation. . . [offering] important opportunities for meaningful dialogue, collaboration, and action on the most critical challenges in education."
- **Coordinated funding (also known as "matching"):** Funders agree upon shared or complementary strategies, exchange ideas on an ongoing basis, and invest in aligned causes. For example, Big Bang Philanthropy's funders commit to fund at least five common grantees at a minimum of \$50,000 each, annually.
- **Coinvestment in existing entity:** Funders invest together to support a specific initiative or organization. This requires a great deal of coordination as funds are almost always pooled. For example, the Great Bear Rainforest environmental project in British Columbia, led by Tides Canada, incorporates individual gifts from funders to make grants for rainforest conservation.
- **Creating a new entity or joint venture (NewCo):** Funders create and coinvest in a new entity or initiative that gives grants or operates programs. In Gavi (The Vaccine Alliance), the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation provided seed funding to launch a vaccine nonprofit, which is now supported by a range of other funders and governments. Another example is Blue Meridian Partners, a capital aggregation vehicle jointly funded by general and limited partners who retain differential decision rights.

• **Funding the funder:** Funders invest in another funder with strong expertise in a content area. One example is Warren Buffett's pledge to the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, allocating his own resources to be spent as part of the Foundation's giving. Another example is donors who grant funds to community foundations for re-granting purposes against a strong local strategy.

Additional publications also included collaborative types, including Nancy Pole, "Collaboration among grantmaking foundations," Montreal Research Lab on Canadian Philanthropy, 2016; Ralph Hamilton, "Moving Ideas and Money," University of Chicago, 2002; Lori Bartczak, "Building Collaboration from the Inside Out," Grantmakers for Effective Organizations, 2015; Cynthia Gibson and Anne Mackinnon, "Funder Collaboratives: How and Why Funders Work Together," Grantcraft, 2009. In practice, the collaboration typology is oftentimes more fluid, with collaboratives encompassing multiple typologies or evolving over time.

#### **Gaps identified**

A gap in the research was investigating **whether, and how, collaboratives adapt over time** and the extent to which impact is sustained past the life of the collaborative. Some resources noted a few examples of collaborations altering their form and case studies noted when adaptation had occurred. (Grantcraft; Hamilton, *Issues in Philanthropy*; Seldon and Huang, Bridgespan; Porter, James, Medina, and Chow, *The Foundation Review*), but this topic was not discussed extensively. One such example is ClimateWorks Foundation, which was founded as a new entity, and has adapted to become, at least in part, a knowledge exchange. **An unanswered question is whether there are a common set of conditions which indicate that a collaboration may need to modify how it operates over time.** 

We identified guidance as to how to define certain aspects of funder collaboration given the circumstances. Many authors implied that the rationale for selecting different types of collaboratives was largely based on two critical factors: the degree to which donors will forego decision rights and align on strategies, and the demands and needs of the particular issue area or field. One guide identified use cases for different collaborative types.<sup>1</sup> In addition, many case studies looked at decision.

<sup>1</sup> Lori Bartczak, "Building Collaboration from the Inside Out," Grantmakers for Effective Organizations, 2015.

## B. Value propositions and risks of funder collaboration

Although authors identified diverse value propositions to funder collaboration, the most frequently identified expected benefits were (1) bringing **more money and public attention** to an issue;<sup>2</sup> (2) enabling participation in something at **a greater scale** than funders could do alone/having the ability to influence systemic change;<sup>3</sup> (3) **creating efficiencies** by sharing research and other burdens across funders;<sup>4</sup> (4) bringing **strategic thinking—including "revolutionary thinking" and expertise** to bear (e.g., matching national funding to local expertise;<sup>5</sup> (5) increased **risk taking** (note: risk spread too thinly can be a risk of collaboration);<sup>6</sup> and (6) providing an **entry point for strategic philanthropy**, particularly for high-net-worth individuals who have not engaged with it before.<sup>7</sup>

A small number of studies **identified benefits to grantees.** The True North Fund and Growth Capital Aggregation Pilot evaluations extensively interviewed grantees and highlighted a range of benefits, including increased funding and funder relationships, a "stamp of approval," and streamlining of reporting. Particularly beneficial were when grantees received large gifts with general operating support which allowed them to invest over a longer-term horizon.<sup>8</sup> Hamilton's report highlighted innovations in grantmaking practice, including tailoring support to grantees and providing core support to grantees as a positive benefit (Hamilton, University of Chicago).

The literature also raised some **potential risks from funder collaboration.** Some reports questioned whether funders aligned around strategies could turn the field away from emergent ideas and practices (Ralph Hamilton, "Moving Ideas and Money," University of

- 2 Susan Parker, "Lessons from a Ten Year Funding Collaborative: A Case Study of the Partnership for Higher Education in Africa," MacArthur Foundation, 2010; Olivia Leland, "A New Model of Collaborative Philanthropy," *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, 2017; William Ryan and Barbara Taylor, "An Experiment in Scaling Impact: Assessing the Growth Capital Aggregation Pilot," Edna McConnell Clark Foundation, 2012; Melinda Tuan, "A midpoint report on the True North Fund," Edna McConnell Clark Foundation, 2014; Ralph Hamilton, "Moving Ideas and Money," University of Chicago, 2002; "Donor Collaboration: Power in Numbers," The Philanthropic Initiative, 2014.
- 3 Susan Wolf Ditkoff, "Long Spoon Problem," The Bridgespan Group, 2012; Lori Bartczak, "Building Collaboration from the Inside Out," Grantmakers for Effective Organizations, 2015; Jen Bokoff and Cynthia Gibson, "Funder Advocacy Collaboratives: Framing Thoughts," Grantcraft, 2017..
- 4 Cynthia Gibson and Anne Mackinnon, "Funder Collaboratives: How and Why Funders Work Together," Grantcraft, 2009; William Ryan and Barbara Taylor, "An Experiment in Scaling Impact: Assessing the Growth Capital Aggregation Pilot," Edna McConnell Clark Foundation, 2012; Melinda Tuan, "A Midpoint Report on the True North Fund," Edna McConnell Clark Foundation, 2014.
- 5 Lauren Marra and Bruce Boyd, "Three ways to maximize impact through collaboration," Arabella Advisors, 2015; Susan Wolf Ditkoff, Alison Powell and Jennifer Morgan, "Giving that Gets Results," The Bridgespan Group, 2014; Willa Seldon and Judy Huang, "Lessons from Funder Collaboration," The Bridgespan Group, 2014; William Schambra, "One Cheer for Collaboration," Philanthropy Roundtable, 2003.
- 6 Jen Bokoff and Cynthia Gibson, "Funder Advocacy Collaboratives: Framing Thoughts," Grantcraft, 2017; "Best Practices of Collaboration," Connect US, 2016.
- 7 Lisa Philp, "Education Collaboration Fund: Possibilities and Limitations of Pooled Funds," *The Foundation Review*, 2011.
- 8 William Ryan and Barbara Taylor, "An Experiment in Scaling Impact: Assessing the Growth Capital Aggregation Pilot," Edna McConnell Clark Foundation, 2012; Melinda Tuan, "A Midpoint Report on the True North Fund," Edna McConnell Clark Foundation, 2014.

Chicago, 2002)—essentially leading to "groupthink," which could have negative effects for grantees and the field. To this point, Ford's Fran Korten advises grantmakers to be mindful of the line between "suggesting" and "dictating" in their relationships with grantees ("Managing a Funder Collaborative: The Ford Foundation," Grantcraft, 2003). Other resources questioned whether collaboratives risk being harmful to the role of local funders (when doing place-based or regional work).<sup>9</sup> And Grantcraft noted that power dynamics between funders (especially the regional/national dynamic) could exacerbate this risk. Finally, some noted that collaboratives may have negative effects for grantees, such as adding an additional layer or wall between grantees and funders (Elaine Fawcett, "Inside Look at a Funder Collaborative," Four Winds Writing Inc., 2016) or limiting the number of funding opportunities available.

#### **Gaps identified**

Most articles focused on funder perspectives rather than those of grantees or community stakeholders. In addition, very few articles highlighted the different value propositions that collaboratives may have and how those value propositions affect structure and governance.

### C. Perspectives on impact

In seeking third party assessments of impact, we reviewed as many collaborative evaluations as we could find (either public or those shared with us confidentially).

Of the 13 collaboratives whose evaluations we reviewed, five were largely positive, two were mixed, three were largely negative, and three were non-evaluative. The evaluations echoed the value propositions identified in this literature review, including **more money or attention** for an issue, **participation in something at a greater scale** than funders could do alone (possibly including influencing systemic change), **efficiency** with lower cost of capital, strategic thinking/expertise, and the ability to take on **increased risk**. The one additional value proposition surfaced in the evaluations that was rarely mentioned in the literature on funder collaboration was **"field-building."** 

The evaluations shine light on impact at the levels we identified for study:

- **Field impact:** Evaluations noted the power of the collaboratives to get specific results (e.g., successfully advocate for policy changes) and, perhaps more commonly, to build fields. Collaboratives were noted for "effective convening" and making "rapid response" grants, and counterfactual statements such as "it's hard to imagine the [relevant] practice would be where it is today" without the collaborative.
- **Funder impact:** Collaboratives were seen to have "deepened [participating] funders' field expertise and led to participating funders making more strategic, informed and effective

<sup>9</sup> Efrain Gutierrez, "Investing in Degrees Engaging Local Funders in Degree Attainment Collaboratives," FSG, 2015; Efrain Gutierres, Kyle Muther, and Hallie Preskill, "Investing in Degrees," FSG, 2015; Ralph Hamilton, "Moving Ideas and Money," University of Chicago, 2002.

investments"; funders "have reported that the benefits...continue to outweigh the costs."

• **Grantee impact:** An evaluation noted that "all grantees made impressive progress towards their goals"; another noted that the collaborative's "support and guidance were existential to the creation of some organizations, and allowed many more to flourish at a time when they could have withered."

When evaluations highlighted challenges, they often described challenging funder relationships, strategic misalignment, problems with how the collaborative was structured or staffed, challenges with measurement, adaptation issues, and poor stakeholder engagement.

#### **Gaps identified**

Although the evaluations quantified the impact or assessed whether the benefits outweighed the costs of a single collaborative, we believe there could be valuable insights by comparing a range of collaboratives with a unified and rigorous approach to impact. Potentially, studies which looked at a larger number of collaborations could begin to quantify the paths to impact by looking at such variables as increased funding, new grantees identified and funded, better/more aligned strategies funded, better oversight or accountability, better grantmaking to grantees (e.g., unrestricted dollars), better support for grantees beyond funding dollars, and increased grantmaking efficiency by providing capacity that funders did not have to replicate.

### D. Factors contributing to successful collaboration

Many sources provided conclusions about what made funder collaborations successful. The most frequently cited success factors were strong relationships; aligned beliefs, goals and strategies; mutually agreed-upon governance structures; and continual measurement and reevaluation (including having exits/ends in sight). In addition to the overwhelming agreement on the importance of aligned goals and values for collaboration, some authors argued that better outcomes arise from a collaboration's ability to periodically reexamine and perhaps change those core beliefs, values, goals, and definitions of success, and the use of grantee feedback to do so.

While all of the factors seem important, many resources indicated that the "human dimension of collaboration" (Nancy Pole, "Collaboration among grantmaking foundations," Montreal Research Lab on Canadian Philanthropy, 2016) is particularly critical—including navigating and managing power politics, tacit assumptions, and wishes and fears of participants through candid, trusting, and open communication among funders and their representatives.<sup>10</sup>

<sup>10</sup> Phil Buchanan, "Barriers to Funder Collaboration and the Will to Overcome Them," Stanford Social Innovation Review, May 3, 2017; The Center for Effective Philanthropy, 2017; Chris Kable, "Five Lessons on Successful Philanthropic Collaboration," Center for Effective Philanthropy, 2016; Willa Seldon and Judy Huang, "Lessons from Funder Collaboration," The Bridgespan Group, 2014; William Schambra, "One Cheer for Collaboration," Philanthropy Roundtable, 2003; John Kania and Mark Kramer, "Collective Impact", Stanford Social Innovation Review, Winter 2011; Robert Hughes, "Philanthropies Working Together: Myths and Realities." Foundation Center, 2005; Bill Porter, James Kelly and Robert Medina, "How Funder Collaborations Flourish," Education First, 2018.

There are also success factors that may be specific to different collaboration types. For example, examining and building upon existing community efforts and identifying "positive deviants" within the community may be particularly relevant in place-based collaborative efforts (Gayle Peterson, "ClimateWorks: Lessons in Leadership and Learning," pfc Social Impact Advisors, 2016); allowing for flexibility to adapt to changing on-the-ground dynamics may be especially important for advocacy collaborations (Jen Bokoff and Cynthia Gibson, "Funder Advocacy Collaboratives," Grantcraft, 2017; David Lewis, "Hearts and Minds: The Untold Story of How Philanthropy and the Civil Marriage Collaborative Helped America Embrace Marriage Equality," Proteus Fund, 2015).

#### **Gaps identified**

Despite many perspectives on factors that contribute to a collaboration's success or failure, the literature typically did not clearly define success for the collaborations studied, and therefore did not explicitly compare-quantitatively or qualitatively successful and less successful collaborations. Additionally, very few studies took the **grantee perspective into account** or **explicitly addressed diversity, equity, and inclusion when determining success factors**. We believe that further investigation integrating the voices of grantees and centering diversity, equity, and inclusion would yield additional insights on how collaborations can best serve all stakeholders.

### E. Lessons from collaboratives that failed or faltered

The literature identifies a number of challenges collaborations face. Generally, the challenges are the mirror of the success factors noted above (e.g., the absence of strong relationships or explicit structure). In addition, there were a limited number of case studies that explicitly grappled with failure or a severe course correction (sometimes anonymously).

#### **Gaps identified**

We did not find any studies that drew insights or patterns from multiple examples of collaborations that faced significant challenge or failure. As we have noted, it would be valuable to have an analysis of challenges that reviews a large enough sample of successful and less successful collaborations to identify the most frequent types of challenges and potential tips for mitigating each.

## F. Linking the identified research gaps to potential research questions

- 1. What impact are funder collaboratives generating (or not), and how do funder collaboratives approach setting goals around impact?
  - A. How do we think about impact from three perspectives:
    - i. Impact on the field (i.e., results in the field as compared to a collaborative's goals)?
    - ii. Impact on collaborative members (both the collaborative's process and on individual collaborative members)?
    - iii. Impact on grantees (e.g., benefits and costs)?
  - B. We have a hypothesis that focusing on particular elements of collaborative life cycles (start-up, reaction to exogenous or endogenous shifts, and planned exit/ death) may provide lessons
- 2. How and to what extent do collaboratives incorporate diverse perspectives and what is the potential for impact when doing so or potential for harm when failing to do so thoughtfully?
- 3. What can we learn from stories of collaboratives that have faltered or failed?

## Quantitative Summary of Key Research Gaps

After reviewing 125 resources, the key research gaps can be quantified as follows:

- No resources explicitly compared funder collaborations across a defined set of criteria to identify "ROI" or enable leaders to predict potential impact
- Fewer than five resources incorporated the perspective of high-net-worth individuals
- Thirteen resources incorporated the perspective of grantee(s)
- Sixteen resources detailed challenges and strategic adaptation

## Annotated Bibliography: Priority Resources Summarized in Chronological Order

We summarize below the most interesting resources in our literature review—taking into account the breadth or depth of insights, strength of research methodology, and several other factors.



Hamilton, Ralph. "Moving Ideas and Money: Issues and Opportunities in Funder Funding Collaboration." University of Chicago, February 27, 2002. www. fundersnetwork.org/files/learn/Moving\_Ideas\_and\_Money\_Paper\_2002.pdf.

Ralph Hamilton, a senior research associate and co-director of the Chapin Hall Center for Children at the University of Chicago, prepared this paper to inform The Funders' Network for Smart Growth and Livable Cities about issues in and approaches to funding collaboration. Hamilton's central argument is that the benefits of collaboration should justify the time and opportunity cost partners invest.

Drawing from over 30 interviews, Hamilton identifies a typology of collaborations, including information exchange, co-learning, strategic alignment, pooled funding, joint ventures, and hybrid networks. For each, he shares examples.

Hamilton cites collaboration leaders as pivotal for success, as they must ensure there is:

- 1. Clarity of values, goals, and methods: as one funder shared, "operating something as a collaborative is a hell of a lot harder when you have to do everything by consensus; and if you don't fundamentally agree on how the thing is to be run, it's a nightmare"
- 2. Relationships, trust, and accountability: one funder shared, "relationships, that's where the *real* accountability comes from"
- 3. Equal voices and standing of participants: to facilitate genuine exchange and mutuality
- 4. Candor about self-interest and authority: problems can arise when participants can't deliver what they've promised
- 5. Identification of the most effective change agents within organizations: to accelerate or improve impact

When these conditions are met, Hamilton identifies the benefits of funder collaborations as:

- 1. Increased effect on the field
- 2. Increased funder learning, including common information and data, analysis and strategic discussion (particularly for thinly-staffed foundations), training on the role of being a philanthropy staff person by working with peers, and finding new grantees
- 3. Building knowledge: for example, providing a venue for development of new tools and ideas
- 4. Positioning issues through collaboration, funders can raise the profile of an issue
- 5. Fostering new linkages and capacities: for example, linking policy and practice as the

National Funders' Collaborative on Violence Prevention did with its local site networks testing key policy issues

- 6. Changing resource flows: increasing dollars, coordinating grantmaking and/or leveraging funding from another sector (for example, a Soros Foundation challenge grant that created an innovative Chicago funder collaborative)
- Changed grantmaking practice: lowering cost for grantees by streamlining asks, funding an underserved sector, tailoring the approach to the grantee and/or providing core support

However, the author urges funders to more fully consider limitations collaborations may have, such as skewing the field, overpowering local funders, and having a high time value and opportunity cost for funders involved, before proceeding with a collaboration strategy.



Schambra, William A. "One Cheer for Collaboration." *Philanthropy*, April 1, 2003. https://www.hudson.org/research/2805-one-cheer-for-collaboration.

William Schambra is the director of the Hudson Institute's Bradley Center for Philanthropy and Civic Renewal. According to Schambra, collaboration seems reasonable and benign at first glance, but upon closer review, it could suppress or constrain new models of giving. Caution is required when collaborating to ensure philanthropic establishments are not only looking to assert authority in the philanthropic world. The author cites three factors contributing to a collaboration's success:

- 1. Ensuring replication and scale of models occurs only once there is evidence of impact; carefully designed impact studies can take multiple years, and there is oftentimes pressure for national foundations to take programs to scale as quickly as possible.
- 2. Managing collaboration overhead as it scales, especially to reduce financial burden on local funders; collaborations frequently involve nationally known expert consultants, evaluation designers, and other overhead costs that can crowd a local foundation's philanthropic budget, leaving less room for community-based efforts.
- 3. Ensuring structure allows for not only consensus, but also for revolutionary and visionary ideas; too often, consensus processes involving foundations with high brand sensitivity can overlook exciting and innovative solutions to a problem.

Schambra suggests local funders closely review the aforementioned factors before joining a nationally-driven philanthropic collaboration.

### Buhl, Alice C. "Local Donor Collaboration: Lessons from Baltimore and Beyond." The Association of Baltimore Area Grantmakers, 2004. http://wings.issuelab.org/ resources/10122/10122.pdf.

Alice C. Buhl is a consultant with expertise on funder collaborations. She previously authored influential works on the role of regional associations as catalysts for cooperation. Buhl outlines a framework for categorizing funder collaboration structures spanning learning networks to independent vehicles for pooled funding. Conducting interviews and focus on groups on behalf of the Association of Baltimore Area Grantmakers (ABAG), Buhl profiles four funder collaborations in which ABAG participated. Through the profiles, she explores how funder collaborations begin, what makes them effective and sustainable, and what role regional associations can play in advancing collaboration.

Buhl identifies three common factors explaining how funder collaborations get started:

- 1. A supportive climate with strong interpersonal networks and a congenial environment for coming together
- 2. A credible champion willing to take on the issue and devote the necessary time, energy, and resources to bring the idea to fruition
- 3. The right timing for addressing a critical issue, which often coincides with a special opportunity (e.g., outside funding, a change in circumstances that results in a crisis or an environment "ripe" for change, etc.)

Buhl finds that effective and sustainable funder collaborations generally share these five key attributes:

- 1. They align on mission, results, resource expectations (e.g. staff time and fund contributions), and working styles/processes.
- 2. They take into account community context.
- 3. They consider the burden on grantees.
- 4. They provide flexibility and inclusiveness for different kinds of funders.
- 5. They learn and adapt to changing circumstances.

Interviewees cited many benefits to collaboration for themselves and their institutions, including:

- 1. The ability to do more as a group than the institution could alone
- 2. The ability to maximize grantmaking efficiencies
- 3. The ability to level the playing field between small and large funders
- 4. The ability to learn from other funders and their networks
- 5. The freedom to make grantmaking decisions that the institution might not be able to make alone

In addition, Buhl notes that city-based or regional associations can often leverage their personal relationships with local funders to sponsor or encourage funder collaborations.



Gibson, Cynthia and Anne Mackinnon. "Funder Collaboratives: Why and How Funders Work Together," Grantcraft, 2009. http://www.grantcraft.org/assets/ content/resources/funder\_collaboratives\_secure.pdf.

Cynthia Gibson is a philanthropy leader, consultant, and expert. Grantcraft is a joint project of the Foundation Center and the European Foundation Centre and, including this document, has published a trove of practical guides on funder collaboration. This overview document aims to support what Gibson sees as rising interest in funder collaboration that has not yet been translated to practice and provides thoughts on features and types of collaborations as well as benefits and challenges. It includes examples from a host of collaborations and reflections from collaboration participants, as well as a set of questions to ask at a collaboration's outset.

Gibson identifies the following features of most funder collaborations: shared information, opportunities to leverage/maximize resources, mutually developed structure and guidelines for operation, and attention to systemic solutions. Many but not all carry out joint funding. Gibson notes that many funders believe re-granting is *not* a collaboration.

Gibson has a simple typology for collaborations:

- 1. **Learning networks:** a group of funders who come together to hear what's happening, share information, and explore potential strategies for increased effectiveness
- 2. **Strategic alignment networks:** funders who share a mission, strategize together, and work in concert but still do their grantmaking independently
- 3. **Pooled funds:** a joint "pot" of money disbursed together, where the money is not linked to any one funder. Gibson notes that pooled funds often must do the same things foundations do (e.g., analyze issues or fields, issue RFPs, select grantees, etc.)

Rather unusually for the literature, she denotes how and why some funders adapt their type of collaboration over time and illustrates a few examples.

Gibson identifies the following benefits and challenges to collaborations:

#### • Benefits:

- Scale and efficiency—providing due diligence, the national/local angle, and more resources
- Learning—information sharing across funders and meeting new funders
- Strength in numbers—providing "political cover" and building influence
- Nonfinancial resources—technical assistance, networks, etc.

#### Challenges:

- Control-funders may need to compromise on grantees
- Credit-funders "need to drop their egos a bit"
- Time and energy—collaboration can be process heavy
- Institutional shifts—funders are "very voguey" and when staff of leadership change, commitment can wane

Gibson also advises how to organize for success, recognizing that "collaborations aren't mindless, faceless structures." Gibson provides some key advice: Stipulate goals and purpose early on—including clarity about what you and your institution want from the collaboration; demonstrate trust and respect for partners; establish ground rules for handling business and resolving problems early on; and consider the benefits of using an intermediary or staff to oversee the collaboration.

Gibson also offers questions as thought starters and helps troubleshoot specific issues.

Rather uniquely, Gibson offers thoughts on how to involve non-funders and shared some examples for how this worked well, whether for establishing and expanding a vision (when the Catalyst Fund started, they engaged grantees to learn what was needed), planning for follow through (when a community collaboration involves residents in planning), staking out a field (an anonymous funder built a pooled fund—the Disability Rights Fund—to be disbursed by members of the disability community), or changing the dialogue (when funders built the Sustainable Forestry Group and included nonprofits and ultimately brought Home Depot to the table).



# Parker, Susan. "Lessons from a Ten-Year Funding Collaborative: A Case Study of the Partnership for Higher Education in Africa." MacArthur Foundation, October 2010. www.macfound.org/media/article\_pdfs/PHEA\_CASE\_STUDY\_1.PDF.

Susan Parker is a communicator and evaluator for foundations and nonprofits. As an intermediary in the social sector, she has worked on projects with The Colorado Trust, the William and Flora Hewlett Foundation, and the Ford Foundation, among others. Parker shares that there are five factors contributing to the success of collaborations:

- 1. Securing senior leadership support and engaging them throughout the collaboration, with the caveat that collaborations must also ensure senior leadership delegates authority to program officers that embrace and champion initiatives
- 2. Carrying out brief planning periods to set clear goals and keep members focused on what success looks like
- 3. Establishing clear decision-making processes (e.g., whether joint activities will be funded, amount of funding per initiative, and which decisions do or do not require consensus)
- 4. Jumpstarting collaboration on early common initiatives to help participating funders bring strengths and capabilities to a tangible collaborative project
- 5. Considering an exit plan that includes strategies for long-term sustainability and ways to embed outputs and outcomes of the collaboration into pre-existing or newly established institutions or organizations

In her study of the Partnership for Higher Education in Africa, Parker found three key value drivers of collaboration:

 Increasing the amount of capital committed to investments by collaboration members. Parker mentions that participants in the collaboration originally had pledged \$140 million less than the actual deployed capital

- 2. Spurring investments by other funders; in this case, philanthropic collaboration was helpful to secure funding from the World Bank
- 3. Collaborating on issues and ideas of scale that one organization could not do alone

Her case study on the Partnership for Higher Education in Africa is one of few publications with quantified examples of the benefits resulting from collaboration, specifically around the catalytic nature of collaborative philanthropy to attract larger funders or government funding and the increases in capital dedicated to an issue compared to individual grant-making. Although most of the success factors she cites align with the available literature, unlike most others she suggests that organizations should find a common project on which to collaborate early in the collaboration to increase buy-in and develop trust.



Kania, John and Mark Kramer. "Collective Impact." *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, Winter 2011. https://ssir.org/articles/entry/collective\_impact.

John Kania is a managing director and Mark Kramer is a co-founder and managing director of FSG. Kania and Kramer argue that "collective impact," the commitment of a group of important actors from different sectors to a common agenda for solving a specific social problem, is distinct from collaboration. They argue that such initiatives involve a centralized infrastructure, a dedicated staff, and a structured process that leads to a common agenda, shared measurement, continuous communication, and mutually reinforcing activities among participants. They believe that most funders try to tackle complicated, adaptive problems with "isolated impact" mechanisms, which cannot "cure" major social problems.

Kania and Kramer argue that there are five conditions of collective impact success, including:

- 1. **Common agenda:** For example, the Elizabeth River Project had to find common ground among corporate, government, community groups, and citizen stakeholders to develop workable initiatives; the authors note that funders can align behind such common goals, rather than fund individual organizations.
- 2. **Shared measurement systems:** Collecting data and measuring on a short list of indicators ensures alignment and accountability; for example, the authors note that all the preschool programs in Cincinnati's Strive Together initiative aligned around common measures.
- 3. **Mutually reinforcing activities:** The power of collective action relies on the coordination of different activities where each actor fits into an overarching plan.
- 4. **Continuous communication:** The authors note the importance of building trust, as well as the need for frequent meetings with the right participants ("skipping meetings or sending lower-level delegates was not allowed" among the initiatives they studied).
- 5. **Backbone support organizations:** The authors state that expecting these initiatives to succeed without a supporting infrastructure (e.g., a separate organization and staff) is one of the most frequent reasons they fail.

The authors propose that such collective action requires funders seeing their role in a different way, from "funding organizations to leading a long-term process of social change."



Ditkoff, Susan Wolf. "The Long Spoon Problem-Five Models of Philanthropic Collaboration." The Bridgespan Group, 2012. https://www.bridgespan.org/ insights/library/philanthropy/five-models-of-philanthropic-collaboration.

Susan Wolf Ditkoff co-leads Bridgespan's philanthropy practice and has published widely on philanthropy topics. In this article, she summarizes the challenges that prevent collaboration: they are time consuming and expensive to do well and many donors are worried about the *quid pro quo* requests that may ensue. She also notes the benefits donors hope collaborations will deliver: more money, opportunity for coordinated action, access to networks and specialized skills, cost efficiencies, and greater visibility for causes.

The article centers on five types of collaborations, the primary dimension is how much control donors are willing to cede and a secondary dimension is how much of their own resources (time and money) do they seek to spend. The types are:

- 1. **The Alliance:** Funders exchange ideas and knowledge but retain decision-making control (e.g., Massachusetts Education Innovators, which convenes leaders for networking and learning).
- 2. **The Match:** Funders create a pool of funding which incentivizes others to give (e.g., the Social Innovation Fund, run by the government, required intermediaries to match government dollars).
- 3. **The Co-Investment:** Funders give in a "sidecar" way to issues or nonprofits (e.g., EMCF's Growth Capital Aggregation Pilot).
- 4. **The NewCo:** Funders create a shared entity (e.g., California Forward, a jointly-funded organization to enhance California's governance).
- 5. **The Re-funder:** Funders invest in another funder with knowledge (e.g., the SkillWorks investment partnership led by the Boston Foundation, which enables re-granting to workforce development causes).



"The Promise and Pitfalls of Local and National Funder Collaborations: Lessons Learned from the Social Innovation Fund." Grantmakers for Effective Organizations, 2013. https://www.inphilanthropy.org/sites/default/files/ resources/geo\_2013\_funder\_collaboration.pdf

In this, the fifth installment in Grantmakers for Effective Organizations' "Scaling What Works" initiative, GEO highlights lessons learned on the benefits and challenges of national-local funder collaborations and factors to foster successful collaborations based on the collaboration between the Mile High United Way in Denver and the Annie E. Casey Foundation, born from a Social Innovation Fund project.

GEO argues that national funders benefit from local funders' on-the-ground expertise, momentum (i.e., building on what is already happening), and credibility. National funders

are cautioned not to parachute in, impose ideas unilaterally, neglect the relationship, or hide plans. Likewise, local funders benefit from national funders' money, new insight and knowledge, and stature. Local funders are cautioned not to be gatekeepers, assume that outside perspectives are bad, hold back knowledge or issues, or team up with the wrong partner.

GEO encourages local and national funders to pilot the relationship, align on goals and expectations, and acknowledge future changes including when and how partners leave. Local funders specifically are encouraged to know and share their knowledge and be a voice for their grantees and communities. National funders specifically are encouraged to learn first and act second, co-design the partnership, support the partnership (with staff time and resources), and connect partners to other funders.



#### Tierney, Thomas J., Willa Seldon, and Gihani Fernando. "High Stakes Donor Collaborations." *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, Spring 2013. www.ssir.org/articles/entry/high\_stakes\_donor\_collaborations.

Tom Tierney, Willa Seldon, and Gihani Fernando are senior leaders at Bridgespan and argue that funding collaborations can increase funders' impact when strategically desirable and appropriately executed. The authors concede, "collaboration done poorly can do more harm than good." The scope of the article is confined to high stakes collaborations, defined as collaborations with a shared multi-year vision around which donors pool talent, resources, and decision-making.

The authors share six factors contributing to a collaboration's success:

- 1. Productive personal relationships, including leadership buy-in
- 2. The presence of principals at the table to enable decision-making
- 3. Clear structures and decision-making processes—the authors note that there is no right answer in terms of voting rights, grantmaking cycle times, and other elements, but that clarity is key
- 4. Flexibility to enable more ambitious goals
- 5. Not "playing it safe"—there is a risk of moving "toward a meaningless center" for agreement's sake
- 6. A planned exit strategy or timelines to revisit participation and increase accountability to minimize disruption

The authors cite the following benefits of collaborating:

- Accessing outside expertise (e.g., three foundations with limited knowledge in energy hiring expert Hal Harvey to found the jointly-funded Energy Foundation instead of individually "staffing up" to hire their own expertise)
- **Pursuing system-level changes** (five California foundations that seek systemic changes in state governance came together to create California Forward, a bipartisan group, to jointly push for change)
- **Aggregating growth capital** (Living Cities has invested over \$1 billion from 22 participating funders to promote urban revitalization)

James, Rick. "Funder Collaboration: a compelling and cautionary tale." International NGO Training and Research Centre, September 19, 2013. http:// www.grantcraft.org/curated-content/funder-collaboration-a-compelling-andcautionary-tale.

Rick James is a principal consultant for the International NGO Training and Research Centre and has more than 25 years of experience working with NGOs around the globe. In this article, James highlights lessons learned from an anonymous failed collaboration where four philanthropists pooled funding for a joint project in a disguised African country.

James identifies five takeaways:

- 1. Do not pool funding unless participants are open to compromise and are willing to endure the start-up costs
- 2. Collaborate with "suitable friends" who have strong cultural fits, including their values, approaches, and ways of working
- 3. Travel together to the field to build trusting relationships
- 4. Let go of control to genuinely share ownership, both within the collaboration and with other stakeholders. Specifically, be sure to include local stakeholders into key decision-making processes in order to capture local insights as well as ensure local ownership
- 5. Design an appropriate governance structure that has clear expectations for decisionmaking processes

While the funders ultimately concluded that the results did not justify the investments, all collaboration members have continued collaborating and integrating the above lessons learned into future endeavors. This case study adds to the field for its rigorous and candid evaluation of failure.

Huang, Judy and Willa Seldon. "Lessons in Funder Collaboration: What the Packard Foundation Has Learned about Working with Other Funders." The David and Lucile Packard Foundation and The Bridgespan Group, July 2014. https://www.bridgespan.org/insights/library/philanthropy/lessons-in-fundercollaboration.

Willa Seldon and Judy Huang are leaders at Bridgespan and argue that effective philanthropic collaboration requires not only time, money, and energy, but also thoughtful planning and communication. The authors created this report in partnership with leaders at the Packard Foundation and investigated 45 funding collaborations in which Packard participated to develop insights, along with leveraging past Bridgespan publications.

The five types of collaborations highlighted in this publication are knowledge exchanges, coordinated funding, co-investing in existing entity, creating a new entity, and funding the funder (as noted previously, on pages 5-6).

The authors identified some strategic considerations, including aligning on a vision and goals; being clear about the fit—or exception—to Packard's strategy; designing the collaboration (decision-making, governance) to fit the partners; creating adaptable and flexible strategies; and designing for exit up front. The authors also cite six "rules of the road" for foundations considering entering into any of these types of collaborations:

- 1. Before investing, weigh the costs and benefits, including the opportunity cost, and align on clear goals
- 2. Use a taxonomy to apply rigor to decision-making regarding the collaboration's structure
- 3. Be clear about the roles the various funding partners will play and the investment required
- 4. Set the exit strategy up front and establish milestones along the way
- 5. Put in place evaluation mechanisms and grantee feedback loops, and adapt based on lessons
- 6. Engage the board in key collaboration discussions when central to the foundation's work

The authors found that when these factors are in place and the collaboration is well-executed, philanthropic collaboration presents donors with the opportunity to learn from others and magnifies the sum of each partner's contributions, producing results beyond the reach of any single donor.



## Bartczak, Lori. "Building Collaboration from the Inside Out." Grantmakers for Effective Organizations, October 2015. https://www.issuelab.org/resources/22852/22852.pdf.

Lori Bartczak is the senior director of Knowledge and Content at Community Wealth Partners and the former vice president of Programs at Grantmakers for Effective Organizations, where she has led communications and programs for more than 15 years. Her publication comprehensively illustrates how funders can think about collaboration and the steps to take in order to do so effectively. Bartczak cites 2014 GEO research that "80% of [foundation] respondents said they believe it is important to coordinate resources and actions with other funders."

Bartczak first outlines the conditions under which collaborations make sense, urging organizations to ensure that the collaboration links to internal goals, fits into the landscape of existing actors, and has a strong groundwork of trusting relationships before proceeding. Once organizations decide to come together to collaborate, Bartczak elaborates on five types of collaborations and their respective use cases:

- 1. **Movements:** Collective action within a common frame that can be used to address complex,systemic challenges where funders are willing to take a supportive role
- 2. **Strategic alliances:** Partnership among organizations working for a common goal that maintain organizational independence; ideal for funders and nonprofits with complementary missions and established relationships
- 3. **Strategic co-funding:** Grantmakers align resources toward a common goal which enables greater impact due to increased cross-learning and funding flow
- 4. **Public-private partnerships**: Partnership between government, philanthropic, and private-sector organizations to deliver a specific service which is used by public sector agencies

5. **Collective impact initiatives:** Long-term commitments by actors from across sectors to a common agenda; best used when the issue is multi-sectoral and requires systems change

Bartczak cites these important factors contributing to a collaboration's success:

- 1. Focus on mission not on organization, which implies putting the mission above individual credit or intentions
- 2. Exercise trust not control, where funders with different capital amounts are able to collaborate effectively and equally regardless of the power dynamics
- 3. Lead with humility, not brand
- 4. Use a formal mechanism to keep the collaborative work on track (e.g., embedding willingness/dedication to the collaboration into performance reviews)

Bartczak's publication recognizes that before engaging in collaboration, "an organization needs effective internal culture, practices, and priorities that can open and orient its board, staff, and volunteers toward being better collaborators." Bartczak's work delineates strategies and implementation tactics funders can use to collaborate more effectively, bringing a pragmatic lens to the literature. Her article also shares examples of how certain grantmakers collaborate, including the Gordon and Betty Moore Foundation, among others.



#### Peterson, Gayle. "ClimateWorks: Lessons in Learning and Leadership." pfc Social Impact Advisors, February 2016. https://hewlett.org/wp-content/ uploads/2017/11/ClimateWorks\_Foundation\_Case\_Study.pdf.

pfc Social Impact Advisors prepared this case study for the William and Flora Hewlett Foundation and the David and Lucile Packard Foundation, drawing from 65 anonymized interviews with collaboration and foundation staff, experts, peer funders, and grantees. The featured collaboration, ClimateWorks Foundation, is a joint venture led by these two foundations to tackle one of the most complex and "wicked" social problems—climate change. The report deeply analyzes the lessons learned and adaptations made from ClimateWorks 1.0, the original iteration, to ClimateWorks 2.0, including:

- **Supporting, rather than trying to "own," the field:** ClimateWorks 1.0 attempted to unilaterally manage the philanthropic community's response to climate change, whereas ClimateWorks 2.0 reimagines its role as a convener and advisor.
- **Building in regular assessment and reflection:** Rather than simply having an annual report that may or may not be read, ClimateWorks 2.0 will have an evaluation team that works closely with staff for continual organizational learning.
- **Including diverse perspectives:** ClimateWorks 2.0 has a staff with more varied background and partners with climate change advocates and other outside actors to avoid "groupthink" and strengthen strategic thinking.

This report adds to the field by setting an example of deep strategic adaption; Charlotte Pera, the CEO of ClimateWorks, concludes: "We'll continue to make mistakes, but hopefully not the same mistakes."

### Pole, Nancy. "Collaboration among grant making foundations: A review of the literature." Montreal Research Laboratory on Canadian Philanthropy, August 7, 2016. https://philab.uqam.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/WP14Foundations\_\_\_\_\_\_ collaboration\_literature\_review\_final.pdf.

Nancy Pole is a researcher and evaluator for PhiLab, the Montreal Research Laboratory on Canadian Philanthropy. This publication highlights the importance of planning and consequent execution that leads to successful collaborations. From reviewing the literature in the field, the author concludes that the most important factors that contribute to a collaboration's success include:

- 1. Assessing the collaboration's fit and funders' own organizational readiness to collaborate
- 2. Defining appropriate and aligned purpose and partners
- 3. Developing adaptive capacities
- 4. Investing in strong, trusting relationships

At the same time, Pole cautions that philanthropic collaboration may amplify foundations' capacity to set agendas that are not held publicly accountable and may reinforce inequitable power dynamics between grantees and foundations. Pole suggests further research engaging non-foundation stakeholders on the role that foundations are best positioned to play.



### Kabel, Chris. "Five Lessons on Successful Philanthropic Collaboration." The Center for Effective Philanthropy, April 21, 2016. www.cep.org/five-lessonson-successful-philanthropic-collaborations/.

Chris Kabel is deputy director of The Kresge Foundation's Health Program. He is responsible for developing and executing their health team's grantmaking and investment strategies to promote health equity. According to Kabel's experience as part of the Grantmakers in Health partnership, the most important factors contributing to success are:

- 1. Keeping shared purpose top of mind to reduce fixation on smaller issues
- 2. Taking greater risks will yield greater rewards
- Proactively leveraging voice and resources to strengthen the collaboration's reputation and funding; for example, he mentions that Graham McLaughlin from the Advisory Board Company identified Brian Castrucci from the de Beaumont Foundation as a partner following a blog post by Castrucci
- 4. Aligning on governance practices up front
- 5. Determining the factors that will be deal breakers and those on which partners are willing to compromise in scenarios that require guidepost flexing

His publication sheds light on funder collaborations where funders are accountable to different sets of constituencies, a common scenario in philanthropic collaboration. Kabel's writing also echoes, and to some extent synthesizes, a significant number of success factors cited in the literature.

### Porter, William, Kelly James, Robert Medina, and Barbara Chow. "Funder Collaborations – Flourish or Flounder?," *The Foundation Review* 9, no. 4 (2017). https://scholarworks.gvsu.edu/cgi/viewcontent. cgi?article=1389&context=tfr.

The authors are leaders at Education First and the William and Flora Hewlett Foundation, and reflect on their journey to use the emergence of the "Common Core Standards" as an opportunity for education funder collaboration. Beginning in 2012, funders worked together in multiple ways to support Common Core implementation. Collaborative efforts included knowledge networks, pooled funds, technical assistance networks, and even founding new organizations. This variety of collaboration examples provided an opportunity to learn why some aspects of this collaboration "flourished" and some "floundered."

This article differentially explores how a collaboration can move through different life cycles, in this instance from knowledge network to a pooled fund. It also highlights pragmatic guidance, in particular about where collaboration efforts may falter. Key guidance includes:

- Identify the costs and benefits of partnerships before committing
- Identify and confront the distinct challenges at each "life stage"
- Collaborations "flounder" when funders aren't clear at the outset about goals, metrics, problems to be solved, decision-making processes, and whether the collaboration has outlived its usefulness; in particular:
  - Creating a big tent can be inclusive, but can offer challenges when funders don't explicitly tackle strategic differences—need to productively surface such tensions
  - When pooling money, it can be challenging to bring in funders once the big decisions about strategy have been made
  - It can be hard to make funding decisions in a timely manner given decision-making challenges (particularly when aiming for policy advocacy)
  - It is better to set time horizons at the outset to enable clarity on goals and exit



Bokoff, Jen, and Cynthia Gibson. "Funder Advocacy Collaboratives: Framing Thoughts." Grantcraft, March 2017. http://www.grantcraft.org/blog/funder-advocacy-collaboratives-framing-thoughts.

Jen Bokoff is the director of Stakeholder Engagement at the Foundation Center, and Cynthia Gibson, Ph.D., consults for foundations and nonprofits on strategic planning, program development, and evaluation, and has written extensively on the intersection between philanthropy and advocacy. This article is part of a suite of resources focused on funder advocacy collaborations. Bokoff and Gibson note that less than 15 percent of foundation grantmaking supports policy, advocacy, and systems reform, and are hopeful that the uptick in funder collaboration can support increased philanthropic advocacy. When philanthropists engage in advocacy, Gibson and Bokoff highlight four crucial success factors:

- 1. **Specific goals:** Politics and policy can be dividing, so collaborations need to focus on a specific and shared goal in order to ensure everyone stays "on the same team."
- 2. **Flexibility:** On-the-ground dynamics may rapidly shift, and it's important that advocacy collaborations have money allocated to be able to support those on the frontlines. quickly when necessary.
- 3. **Systems lens:** Rather than staying siloed into a program area focus, foundations should embrace complexity in order to promote systems change.
- 4. **Willingness to take risks:** Advocacy collaborations are going to have to embrace risks and may not see "immediate outcomes."

While many of these success factors are important for collaborations more generally, these factors have heightened importance for advocacy collaborations. Finally, Gibson and Bokoff highlight a gap in the literature: Funders are increasingly interested in exploring how to "engage grantees as partners, rather than as beneficiaries, in strategic development, field building, and even grant decisions."



Buchanan, Phil. "Barriers to Funder Collaboration and the Will to Overcome them." *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, May 3, 2017. https://ssir.org/articles/entry/barriers\_to\_funder\_collaboration\_and\_the\_will\_to\_overcome\_them.

Phil Buchanan is the president of the Center for Effective Philanthropy. Buchanan has led the growth of the CEP to become a provider of data and insight on foundation effectiveness. His article, like the literature review written by Nancy Pole, sheds light on the interpersonal dimensions of collaboration and how these barriers can be addressed:

- 1. Buchanan suggests that funders should look less at private sectors as examples of silver bullets, which are driven by market and other forces.
- 2. He cites that as foundation leaders seek to demonstrate their accountability to corresponding constituents, they create unintended consequences; one of these consequences, he argues, is that it is a "fantasy" to believe there is always a definitive, causal link between an individual foundation's funding and a quantifiable impact achieved; he further clarifies that this stems from "obsessive seeking" of individual credit, which could prevent productive collaboration.
- 3. He also believes it necessary to plan for power dynamics between funders and collaborators andfunders and grantees, to foster more efficient communication and execution.
- 4. In order to address these dynamics, funders should be willing and able to participate in "good followership" and avoid seeking individual credit or over-attributing to one partner.

Finally, Buchanan shares two examples of successful collaborations, the Civil Marriage Collaboration, in which funders pooled \$153 million over 11 years to push for marriage equality, and the informal alliance among six education funders in California that helped change the state's education finance system in 2013. His publication challenges funders to realistically identify the role they can play on a particular issue, the interpersonal dimensions involved in executing, and the need for "good followership" among funders accustomed to unilateral decision-making.



Grady, Heather, Kelly Diggins, Joanne Schneider, and Naamah Paley Rose. "Scaling Solutions Toward Shifting Systems." Rockefeller Philanthropy Advisors, September 2017. http://www.rockpa.org/wp-content/ uploads/2017/09/05-18\_RockPA-ScalingSolutions-WEB.pdf.

Rockefeller Philanthropy Advisors was commissioned by the Skoll Foundation and supported by the Porticus, Ford, and Draper Richards Kaplan Foundations, to examine how funders can collaboratively work to "accelerate scalable solutions to the world's most pressing problems" through systems change.

This research engaged 100+ funders and pulled five areas of consensus for funders aspiring to scale solutions by shifting systems:

- 1. **Empower:** It is the responsibility of funders to "consciously shift power dynamics with grantees" to create an environment that is open and honest.
- 2. Accelerate: Funders can and should have ongoing conversations with grantees about strategic non-monetary support that foundations can provide, such as introductions to additional strategically-aligned funders.
- 3. **Learn:** Funders can support grantees in developing knowledge on how to shift systems through activities such as systems mapping.
- 4. **Collaborate:** Funders should share learnings (e.g., due diligence and results achieved) with one another through vehicles such as donor collaboratives.
- 5. **Streamline:** Funders can and should amend grantmaking systems to lower the burden on grantees.

The report serves as an open source initiative, and its vision is to reach a wider circle of funders who are willing to commit to embody this behavior to drive "equilibrium change," or the disruption of the status quo.



# Leland, Olivia. "A New Model of Collaborative Philanthropy." *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, November 15, 2017. https://ssir.org/articles/entry/a\_new\_model\_of\_collaborative\_philanthropy.

Olivia Leland is a practitioner in philanthropic collaboration. She was previously the founding director of the Giving Pledge while working at the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, managing director of the Rockefeller Foundation, and is CEO of Co-Impact, which she founded in 2017. According to her publication, collaborations have three main benefits:

- They create effective mechanisms to solve social issues at scale with the right partners and size of capital; Leland notes that capital aggregation is important to enable larger grants with less restrictive uses, and therefore supports flexible and coordinated investments to scale programs and interventions.
- 2. Through collaborations philanthropists are able to offer holistic support (e.g., technology, marketing, law, and coaching) in addition to longer-term, less-restricted, and larger funding; her organization, Co-Impact, plans to offer a suite of nonfinancial supports, including technical assistance for things such as strategic planning, program

management, technology, policy and advocacy, government relations, and measurement and evaluation.

3. Finally, collaborations can be mechanisms to allow philanthropists with less capacity (i.e. those without large foundations or family offices) to make "big bets" to find, vet, structure, and support investments in high performing organizations; for instance, she quoted the CEO of a small family foundation, who said, "If I want to write such a check, I don't know where to write it. There's no one to source and build out the opportunity or to support it over time."

Leland's vision is that collaboration will effectively target these gaps by building networks that catalyze increased giving and allow philanthropists to support potential and past grantees more effectively.



Stachowiak, Sarah, and Lauren Gase. "Does Collective Impact Really Make an Impact?" *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, August 2018. https://ssir.org/ articles/entry/does\_collective\_impact\_really\_make\_an\_impact.

The Collective Impact Forum, an initiative of FSG and the Aspen Institute Forum for Community Solutions, hired ORS Impact and Spark Policy Institute to answer the question: "To what extent and under what conditions does the collective impact approach contribute to systems and population changes?" The study studied 25 collective impact initiatives, with eight site visit and three equity deep dives.

The study yielded key insights:

- Collective impact initiatives are a critical and valuable aspect of social change. However, there is no uniform role that collective impact plays.
- Systems change must be iterative, and there is not a simple, replicable path.
- Equity requires not only good intentions, but also targeted action, meaningful inclusion, and shifting power.

We believe that this study is unique for its approach to impact, conducting a cross-study of a large set of initiatives with clear, rigorous, and uniform set of criteria. We are eager to see a similarly rigorous study of funder collaborations.



Milway, Katie Smith. "Funding Feedback." *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, Fall 2018. https://ssir.org/articles/entry/funding\_feedback.

A case study of the Fund for Shared Insight, which aims "to help nonprofits and funders learn from and empower those they seek to help." The study identifies four aspects of the collaboration's process that enabled them to do something relatively rare: "collaborate with other funders not to scale a proven approach, but to design a solution with nonprofits and their end users that could be adopted far and wide."

- 1. **Identified "uncommon principles":** The Fund is managed by an independent structure with dedicated staff; while funders contribute at different levels, they share leadership equally; participants engage candidly and embed evaluation along the way to support ongoing learning and adaptation
- 2. **Incorporated a large number of funders:** It raised \$21 million with 78 funders collaborating, funding 184 grantees; they did this through designing an online tool that could scale (using Net Promoter Score to gather beneficiary feedback) and offered that the Fund would pay 2/3 the cost for nonprofit implementation, assuming other funders would pick up the rest.
- 3. **Audacious goal:** The collaborative has adapted how it works to meet its goal—"not to address one social problem, but to elevate nonprofit and funder effectiveness in addressing any social problem" and will continue to "move from course correction to redesign to bully pulpit" in service of this goal.

The study also discusses how the Fund for Shared Insight grappled with equity, diversity, and inclusion by incorporating an EDI consultant as an advisor, ensuring diversity among the technical assistance staff, and increasing outreach in the Deep South.



Kaufmann, Katherine, Laura Brookhiser, and Bradley Seeman. "Collaborating Towards Kindergarten Readiness at Scale: A Funder Group Case Study." The Bridgespan Group, 2018. https://www.bridgespan.org/insights/library/ philanthropy/kindergarten-readiness-funder-collaboration.

This is a case study of how a collaborative of 12 leading early childhood funders set a fixed goal and continuously evolved its methods to achieve it. In sharing the choices these funders made and the turning points they faced, this case study helps other funders chart their own course to successful collaboration.

The collaborative, formed at the invitation of the David and Lucile Packard Foundation and the J.B. and M.K. Pritzker Family Foundation, had adopted a straightforward goal: identify a few high-impact ideas to improve kindergarten readiness for all children, and find collaborative ways to advance them. Yet two years after the collaborative launched, the group still had not settled on any investments. Noting the lack of progress, the group's principal convener, bluntly asked the group, "Should we stop meeting?"

Posing this question helped prompt the collaborative to alter course—and pick up speed. Eighteen months later, two teams within the group had pooled \$26 million to pursue big bets in two areas: strengthening the early childhood workforce of teachers and other professional care givers, and changing the standard of care in pediatric well-child visits. The two teams have invested much more in these strategies than any of the individual members would have on their own. And the full group, including some who have not invested in either the workforce or pediatric initiatives, continues to work to identify additional areas for collaboration. The authors identify six key lessons learned through supporting this collaboration in its evolution:

- Assembling the right people took time.
- A compelling goal brought and kept people together.
- Learning together created a strong foundation for partnership.
- Identifying and supporting champions for concrete investment concepts translated talk into action.
- Collaborating effectively required a serious investment of time and resources.
- The most effective structure and approach for the collaborative was shaped by the field in which the collaborative operated and the issues that it tackled.

## Appendix

## A. Priority resources by theme

We have categorized many of the publications across three themes, which we encourage you to explore to learn more deeply on these topics.

#### Lessons learned from case studies of specific collaboration

- Cheek Clayton, Tonika. "Engaged Partners: The Achieving the Dream Partnership." Grantmakers for Education, January 2008. www.edfunders.org/sites/default/files/ CaseStudyNo.6\_color\_final.pdf.
- James, Rick. "Funder Collaboration: a compelling and cautionary tale." International NGO Training and Research Center, September 19, 2013. http://www.grantcraft.org/curated-content/funder-collaboration-a-compelling-and-cautionary-tale.
- Kaufmann, Katherine, Laura Brookhiser, and Bradley Seeman. "Collaborating Towards Kindergarten Readiness at Scale: A Funder Group Case Study." The Bridgespan Group, August 2018. https://www.bridgespan.org/insights/library/philanthropy/ kindergarten-readiness-funder-collaboration.
- Levin, Rebekah and Hallie Preskill. "Strengthening a Struggling Collaboration through Evaluation: Lessons from the Robert R. McCormick Foundation." *FSG*, June 12, 2017. https://www.fsg.org/blog/strengthening-struggling-collaboration-throughevaluation-lessons-robert-r-mccormick-foundation.
- Milway, Katie Smith. "Funding Feedback." *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, Fall 2018. https://ssir.org/articles/entry/funding\_feedback.
- Parker, Susan. "Lessons from a Ten-Year Funding Collaborative: A Case Study of the Partnership for Higher Education in Africa." MacArthur Foundation, October 2010. www.macfound.org/media/article\_pdfs/PHEA\_CASE\_STUDY\_1.PDF.
- Peterson, Gayle. "ClimateWorks: Lessons in Learning and Leadership." pfc Social Impact Advisors, February 2016. https://hewlett.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/ ClimateWorks\_Foundation\_Case\_Study.pdf.
- Ryan, William P. and Barbara E. Taylor. "An Experiment in Scaling Impact: Assessing the Growth Capital Aggregation Pilot." Edna McConnell Clark Foundation, December 2012. www.emcf.org/fileadmin/media/PDFs/GCAPReport\_Final.pdf.
- Surka, Matt. "Social Innovation Fund Scales the National Fund: A Model that Works." National Fund for Workforce Solutions, February 2017. www.nationalfund.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/SIF-Report\_2017-02-22\_high-res.pdf.
- Tuan, Melinda T. "A Midpoint Report on the True North Fund." Edna McConnell Clark Foundation, February 2014. www.emcf.org/fileadmin/media/PDFs/EMCF\_ TNFMidpointReport2014.pdf.

#### Highlighting different types of collaborations

- Place-based collaboration with and among local foundations and community members
  - "The Dos and Don'ts of Working with Local Funders." Association of Baltimore Area Grantmakers, January 2005.
  - Gutierrez, Efrain, Kyle Muther, and Hallie Preskill. "Investing in Degrees: Engaging Local Funders in Degree Attainment Collaboratives." FSG, May 2015. https://www.fsg. org/tools-and-resources/investing-degrees.
  - Kania, John and Mark Kramer. "Collective Impact", *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, Winter 2011. https://ssir.org/articles/entry/collective\_impact.
  - Pace, Maya. "Daring to Invest: How the Early Childhood Initiative's attitude towards risk impacted Pittsburgh philanthropy." Grantcraft, October 20, 2016. http://www.grantcraft.org/case-studies/daring-to-invest1.
  - Slutsky, Lorie. "Stronger Together: The Power of Funder Collaboration." The New York Community Trust, August 2016. https://www.nycommunitytrust.org/Portals/0/Uploads/Documents/Public/NYCT-CollabFunds2016.pdf.
  - Stachowiak, Sarah and Lauren Gase. "Does Collective Impact Really Make an Impact?" *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, August 2018. https://ssir.org/articles/entry/does\_collective\_impact\_really\_make\_an\_impact.
  - Woodwell Jr, William H. "Collaborative Funding for Greater Impact: A Case Study of the Cincinnati Experience, Lessons Learned from the Social Innovation Fund." Grantmakers for Effective Organizations, April 25, 2012. https://www.geofunders.org/ resources/collaborative-funding-for-greater-impact-a-case-study-of-the-cincinnatiexperience-lessons-learned-from-the-social-innovation-fund-620.

#### Capital aggregation

- Gair, Cynthia. "Out of Philanthropy's Funding Maze Roadmap #1: Strategic Co-Funding." REDF, June 2008. https://www.redf.org/app/uploads/2013/10/REDF-Stepping-Outof-the-Maze-Series-Vol-1-Out-of-Philanthropys-Funding-Maze-Paper-20081.pdf.
- Grossman, Allen S, Sarah Appleby, and Caitlin Reimers. "Venture Philanthropy: Its Evolution and Its Future." Harvard Business School Background Note, June 2013. https://www.hbs.edu/faculty/Pages/item.aspx?num=44847.
- Ryan, William and Barbara E. Taylor. "An Experiment in Scaling Impact: Assessing the Growth Capital Aggregation Pilot." Edna McConnell Clark Foundation, December 2012. https://www.emcf.org/fileadmin/media/PDFs/GCAPReport\_Final.pdf.
- Surka, Matt. "Social Innovation Fund Scales the National Fund: A Model that Works." National Fund for Workforce Solutions, February 2017. https://www.nationalfund.org/ wp-content/uploads/2017/02/SIF-Report\_2017-02-22\_high-res.pdf.
- Funder collaborations focused on advocacy
  - Bokoff, Jen and Cynthia Gibson. "Funder Advocacy Collaboratives: Framing Thoughts." Grantcraft, March 2017. http://www.grantcraft.org/blog/funder-advocacycollaboratives-framing-thoughts.

- Putnam-Walkerly, Kris. "Unlikely Allies Unite for a Policy Win." Putnam Consulting Group, Inc., May 9, 2015. http://www.grantcraft.org/blog/unlikely-allies-unite-for-apolicy-win.
- Slutsky, Lorie. "Stronger Together: The Power of Funder Collaboration." The New York Community Trust, August 2016. www.nycommunitytrust.org/Portals/0/Uploads/ Documents/Public/NYCT-CollabFunds2016.pdf.

#### Going beyond funder collaboration

- Nonprofit collaboration
  - The Bridgespan Group. "Mergers that Made a Difference." March 2014. https://www. bridgespan.org/insights/blog/mergers-and-collaborations.
  - Panepento, Peter. "Nonprofit Collaboration 2.0." *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, July 5, 2017. www.ssir.org/articles/entry/nonprofit\_collaboration\_2.0.
- Private-public partnerships
  - Minyard, Karen, Mary Ann Phillips, and Susan Baker. "The Philanthropic Collaborative for a Healthy Georgia: Building a Public-Private Partnership with Pooled Funding." *The Foundation Review* 8, no. 1 (2016). https://scholarworks.gvsu.edu/cgi/ viewcontent.cgi?article=1285&context=tfr.
  - Russell, Patty. "Public-Philanthropic Collaboratives: Finding a Partner in Uncle Sam." FSG, September 25, 2011. www.fsg.org/blog/public-philanthropic-collaboratives-finding-partner-uncle-sam.

## B. List of sources

- 1. Albright, Robert. "Is This the Decade of Collaborative Philanthropy?" *FSG*, June 12, 2012. https://www.fsg.org/blog/decade-collaborative-philanthropy.
- 2. Alexander-Ozinskas, Marselle. "Attitudes of German Public Benefit Foundations Toward Partnership." S.D. Bechtel, Jr. Foundation, December 2014.
- 3. Backer, Thomas E. "Collaboration Approaches for Smaller Foundations." Annie E Casey Foundation, January 2004.
- 4. Barsoum, Gigi. "California Counts! 2010 Census Campaign: A Network Approach to Funder Collaboration." Grantmakers Concerned with Immigrants and Refugees, July 2012. https://www.gcir.org/resources/california-counts-2010-census-campaignnetwork-approach-funder-collaboration.
- 5. Bartczak, Lori. "Building Collaboration from the Inside Out." Grantmakers for Effective Organizations, October 2015. www.issuelab.org/resources/22852/22852.pdf.
- Bell, Judith and Larry Cohen. "Convergence Partnership: How a Group of Philanthropists Broke the Mold and Unlocked the Power of Collaboration." *National Civic League*, Winter 2013.
- 7. Berger, Elliot. "Partnering to Scale Impact." Arabella Advisors, July 26, 2013. http://www.socialimpactexchange.org/exchange-blog/partnering-scale-impact.

- 8. Bernholz, Lucy, Stephanie Linden Seale, and Tony Wang. "Building to Last: A Review of Field Building as a Philanthropic Strategy." Blueprint Research + Design, Inc, 2009. https://www.scribd.com/document/26742690/Building-to-Last.
- 9. Brest, Paul and Hal Harvey. *Money Well Spent: A Strategic Plan for Smart Philanthropy*. New York : Bloomberg Press, November 28, 2008.
- Brown, Prudence and Leila Fiester. "Hard Lessons about Philanthropy and Community Change from the Neighborhood Improvement Project." William and Flora Hewlett Foundation, March 2007. https://www.hewlett.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/ HewlettNIIReport.pdf.
- 11. Buchanan, Phil. "Barriers to Funder Collaboration and the Will to Overcome Them." *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, May 3, 2017. https://ssir.org/articles/entry/barriers\_ to\_funder\_collaboration\_and\_the\_will\_to\_overcome\_them.
- 12. Buhl, Alice C. "Local Donor Collaboration: Lessons from Baltimore and Beyond." Association of Baltimore Area Grantmakers, 2004. https://www.issuelab.org/resource/ local-donor-collaboration-lessons-from-baltimore-and-beyond.html.
- 13. Childress, Stacey and Caroline Joan King. "NewSchools Venture Fund in 2004: At a Crossroads." Harvard Business School, December 2005 (Revised August 2007). https://www.hbs.edu/faculty/Pages/item.aspx?num=32921.
- 14. Clayton, Tonika Cheek. "Engaged Partners: The Achieving the Dream Partnership." Grantmakers for Education, January 2008. www.edfunders.org/sites/default/files/ CaseStudyNo.6\_color\_final.pdf.
- 15. Cottingham, Alice. "Fund for Immigrants and Refugees: Lessons Learned in Grantmaking Collaboration." Grantmakers Concerned with Immigrants and Refugees, July 2002.
- 16. Ditkoff, Susan Wolf. "The Long Spoon Problem-Five Models of Philanthropic Collaboration." The Bridgespan Group, 2012. https://www.bridgespan.org/insights/ library/philanthropy/five-models-of-philanthropic-collaboration.
- 17. Ditkoff, Susan Wolf and Alison Powell. "Giving that Gets Results: SSIR x Bridgespan Series on Adaptive Philanthropy." The Bridgespan Group, December 2013. https:// www.bridgespan.org/bridgespan/images/articles/giving-that-gets-results/Giving-That-Gets-Results-Compendium\_1.pdf?ext=.pdf.
- 18. Editorial board, "Collaborative Funding of an Advocacy Organization." *Nonprofit Quarterly,* September 21, 2001. https://nonprofitquarterly.org/2001/09/21/collaborative-funding-of-an-advocacy-organization/.
- 19. Esterle, John, Malka Kopell, and Palma Strand. "From the Kids' Table to the Adults' Table: Taking Relationships Seriously in a World of Networks." The Whitman Institute and Creighton Law School, May 2014. https://thewhitmaninstitute.org/wp-content/uploads/FromTheKidsTabletoAdultsTable.pdf.
- 20. Fawcett, Elaine Gast. "Inside Look at a Funder Collaborative." Exponent Philanthropy, August 1, 2016.
- 21. Fine, Melinda, Steven Lawrence, and Molly Hafid. "(Re)thinking Funder Networks and Collaboratives." *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, April 9, 2018. https://ssir.org/ articles/entry/rethinking\_funder\_networks\_and\_collaboratives?platform=hootsuite.

- 22. Fleishman, Joel L. *The Foundation: A Great American Secret; How Private Wealth is Changing the World*. New York: PublicAffairs, 2007.
- 23. Foster, William. "Money to Grow On." *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, Fall 2008. https://ssir.org/articles/entry/money\_to\_grow\_on.
- 24. Fournier, Ron. "Vulnerable and humble, leaders who changed 2 cultures." *Crain's Detroit Business*, March 11, 2018. http://www.crainsdetroit.com/article/20180311/ blog025/654866/vulnerable-and-humble-leaders-who-changed-2-cultures.
- 25. Fulton, Katherine, Gabriel Kasper, and Barbara Kibbe. "What's Next for Philanthropy: Acting Bigger and Adapting Better in a Networked World." Monitor Institute, July 2010. https://sinapse.gife.org.br/download/whats-next-for-philanthropy-actingbigger-and-adapting-better-in-a-networked-world.
- 26. Gair, Cynthia. "Out of Philanthropy's Funding Maze: Strategic Co-Funding." *REDF*, June 2008. http://redf.org/app/uploads/2013/10/REDF-Stepping-Out-of-the-Maze-Series-Vol-1-Out-of-Philanthropys-Funding-Maze-Paper-20081.pdf.
- 27. Garvey, Andrea. "EPIP Boston: Think Bigger." Emerging Practitioners in Philanthropy, August 3, 2016. http://www.epip.org/epip\_boston\_think\_bigger.
- 28. Gibson, Cynthia and Jen Bokoff. "Advocacy Funder Collaboratives." Grantcraft, March 2017. https://www.grantcraft.org/content-series/advocacy-funder-collaboratives.
- 29. Gibson, Cynthia and Anne Mackinnon. "Funder Collaboratives: Why and How Funder Works Together." Grantcraft, January 1, 2010. http://www.grantcraft.org/guides/ funder-collaboratives.
- 30. Gibson, Cynthia and Anne Mackinnon. "Working with Government: Guidance of Grantmakers." Grantcraft, June 1, 2010. http://www.grantcraft.org/guides/working-with-government.
- Glass, Juniper. "The Landscapes of Foundations Collaborating in Canada." The Montreal Research Laboratory on Canadian Philanthropy, October 4, 2016. https://philab.uqam.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/ WP13Canadianlandscapeoffoundationcollaboration.pdf.
- 32. Grady, Heather, Kelly Diggins, Joanne Schneider, and Naamah Paley Rose. *Scaling Solutions Towards Shifting Systems*. Rockefeller Philanthropy Advisors, September 2017. http://www.rockpa.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/05-18\_RockPA-ScalingSolutions-WEB.pdf
- 33. Grady, Heather, Kelly Diggins, Joanne Schneider, and Naamah Paley Rose. Scaling Solutions Toward Shifting Systems: Approaches for Impact, Approaches for Learning. Rockefeller Philanthropy Advisors, September 2018. http://www.rockpa.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/09/Scaling-Solutions-Toward-Shifting-Systems-Approachesfor-Impact-Approaches-for-Learning.pdf.
- 34. Greco, David. "Message from CEO on Collaborative Philanthropy." Northern California Grantmakers, September 18, 2014. https://ncg.org/news/ncg-interim-president-andceo-david-greco-message-collaborative-philanthropy.
- 35. Gutierres, Efrain, Kyle Muther, and Hallie Preskill. "Investing in Degrees." FSG, May 2015. https://www.fsg.org/tools-and-resources/investing-degrees.

- 36. Hamilton, Ralph. "Moving Ideas and Money: Issues and Opportunities in Funding Collaboration." University of Chicago, February 27, 2002. www.fundersnetwork.org/ files/learn/Moving\_Ideas\_and\_Money\_Paper\_2002.pdf.
- Hanleybrown, Fay, John Kania, and Mark Kramer. "Channeling Change: Making Collective Impact Work." *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, January 26, 2012. https://ssir.org/articles/entry/channeling\_change\_making\_collective\_impact\_work.
- 38. Hughes, Robert. "Philanthropies Working Together: Myths and Realities." Foundation Center, February 1, 2005. https://www.issuelab.org/resource/philanthropies-workingtogether-myths-and-realities.html.
- 39. Jacobs, Lauren and Melinda Fine. "Strengthening Collaborations to Build Social Movements: Ten Lessons from the Communities for Public Education Reform Fund (CPER)." Grantcraft, January 5, 2015. http://www.grantcraft.org/curated-content/ strengthening-collaborations-to-build-social-movements-ten-lessons-from-the.
- 40. James, Rick. "Funder Collaboration: A Compelling and Cautionary Tale." International NGO Training and Research Centre September 19, 2013. http://www.grantcraft.org/curated-content/funder-collaboration-a-compelling-and-cautionary-tale.
- 41. Kania, John and Mark Kramer. "Collective Impact," *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, Winter 2011. https://ssir.org/articles/entry/collective\_impact.
- 42. Kania, John and Mark Kramer. "Embracing Emergence: How Collective Impact Addresses Complexity," *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, January 21, 2013. https:// ssir.org/articles/entry/embracing\_emergence\_how\_collective\_impact\_addresses\_ complexity.
- 43. Johnson, Lea M. "Advocacy and Collaboration—The Two Secret Ingredients for Leveraging Your Philanthropy." LMJ Consulting, May 27, 2011. http://blog.smartgivers. org/2011/05/advocacy-and-collaborationthe-two.html.
- 44. Kabel, Chris. "Five Lessons on Successful Philanthropic Collaboration." The Center for Effective Philanthropy, 2016. http://cep.org/five-lessons-on-successful-philanthropic-collaborations.
- 45. Kaplan, Robert and Allen Grossman. "The Emerging Capital of Market for Nonprofits." *Harvard Business Review,* October 2010. https://hbr.org/2010/10/the-emerging-capital-market-for-nonprofits.
- 46. Kaufmann, Katherine, Laura Brookhiser, and Bradley Seeman. "Collaborating Towards Kindergarten Readiness at Scale: A Funder Group Case Study." The Bridgespan Group, August 27, 2018. https://www.bridgespan.org/insights/library/philanthropy/ kindergarten-readiness-funder-collaboration.
- 47. Leland, Olivia. "A New Model of Collaborative Philanthropy." *Stanford Social Innovation Review,* November 15, 2017. https://ssir.org/articles/entry/a\_new\_model\_of\_collaborative\_philanthropy.
- 48. Levin, Rebekah and Hallie Preskill. "Strengthening a Struggling Collaboration through Evaluation: Lessons from the Robert R. McCormick Foundation." FSG, June 12, 2017, https://www.fsg.org/blog/strengthening-struggling-collaboration-through-evaluationlessons-robert-r-mccormick-foundation.

- 49. Lewis, David. "Hearts and Minds: The Untold Story of How Philanthropy and the Civil Marriage Collaborative Helped America Embrace Marriage Equality." Proteus Fund, November 2015. https://philanthropynewyork.org/sites/default/files/resources/ heartsandminds-proteus-fund.pdf.
- 50. Mackinnon, Anne. "Working Together to Achieve Greater Impact: The Donors Education Collaborative NYC." Grantmakers for Education, April 2006. https://www.edfunders.org/sites/default/files/Case%203-Collaboration\_COLOR.pdf.
- 51. "Managing a Funder Collaborative: The Ford Foundation." Grantcraft, November 14, 2003. http://www.grantcraft.org/case-studies/managing-a-funder-collaborative-case-study.
- 52. Markham, Amy and Susan Wolf Ditkoff. "Learning from Sunset." *Philanthropy*, Fall 2013. http://www.philanthropyroundtable.org/topic/donor\_intent/learning\_from\_the\_sunset.
- 53. Marra, Lauren and Bruce Boyd. "Three ways to maximize impact through collaboration." Arabella Advisors, January 2015, https://www.arabellaadvisors.com/2015/01/22/three-ways-to-maximize-impact-through-collaboration/.
- 54. Mattenson, Pearl. "Preparing to Deepen Action: A Funder Collaborative Finds its Way." Grantcraft, June 19, 2017. http://www.grantcraft.org/curated-content/preparing-todeepen-action-a-funder-collaborative-finds-its-way.
- 55. McCray, J. "Is grantmaking getting smarter: A national study of philanthropic practice." Grantmakers for Effective Organizations, November 19, 2014. https://www.geofunders. org/resources/is-grantmaking-getting-smarter-703.
- 56. McGarvey, Craig and Anne Mackinnon. "Participating in a Funder's Collaborative: The Benefits of Working Together." Grantcraft, December 1, 2008. http://www.grantcraft. org/case-studies/participating-in-a-funders-collaborative.
- 57. Milway, Katie Smith. "Funding Feedback." *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, Fall 2018. https://ssir.org/articles/entry/funding\_feedback.
- 58. Minyard, Karen, Mary Ann Phillips, Susan Baker. "The Philanthropic Collaborative for a Healthy Georgia: Building a Public-Private Partnership with Pooled Funding." *The Foundation Review* 8, no. 1 (2016). https://scholarworks.gvsu.edu/tfr/vol8/iss1/9/.
- 59. Oberholster, Tamara and Lindsey Moyo. "Shanduka Foundation: Collaborating with Funding Partners/Grantmakers." Grantcraft, June 8, 2015. http://www.grantcraft.org/ case-studies/shanduka-foundation.
- 60. Pace, Maya. "Daring to Invest: How the Early Childhood Initiative's attitude towards risk impacted Pittsburgh philanthropy." Grantcraft, October 2016. http://www.grantcraft.org/case-studies/daring-to-invest1.
- 61. Panepento, Peter. "Nonprofit Collaboration 2.0" *Stanford Social Innovation Review,* July 5, 2017. https://ssir.org/articles/entry/nonprofit\_collaboration\_2.0.
- 62. Parker, Susan. "Lessons from a Ten-Year Funding Collaborative: A Case Study of the Partnership for Higher Education in Africa." MacArthur Foundation, October 2010. https://www.macfound.org/media/article\_pdfs/PHEA\_CASE\_STUDY.PDF.
- 63. Peterson, Gayle. "ClimateWorks: Lessons in Leadership and Learning." pfc Social Impact Advisors, February 2016. https://hewlett.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/ ClimateWorks\_Foundation\_Case\_Study.pdf.

- 64. Peterson, Julia. "The Collaborative Fund Model: Effective Strategies for Grantmaking." Ms. Foundation for Women, 2002. https://www.cnjg.org/sites/default/files/resources/ The%20Collaborative%20Fund%20Model.PDF.
- 65. Philbin, Ann and Deb Linnell. "Funding Learning Networks for Community Impact: Lessons from the Capacity Building Fund." Third Sector New England, 2013. http://tsne.org/downloads/Funding-Networks-for-Community-Impact.pdf.
- 66. Philp, Lisa. "Education Collaboration Fund: Possibilities and Limitations of Pooled Funds." *The Foundation Review* 3, no. 4 (2011). http://www.grantcraft.org/curated-content/education-collaboration-fund-possibilities-and-limitations-of-pooled-funds.
- 67. Pole, Nancy. "Collaboration among grantmaking foundations: a review of the literature." Montreal Research Laboratory on Canadian Philanthropy, August 7, 2016. https://www. academia.edu/33507908/Working\_Paper\_14\_Collaboration\_among\_grantmaking\_ foundations\_A\_review\_of\_the\_literature.
- 68. Porter, Bill, Kelly James, and Robert Medina. "How Funder Collaborations Flourish: Lessons from the Common Core Standards." Education First, April 2016. https:// education-first.com/library/publication/how-funder-collaborations-flourish-lessonsfrom-the-common-core-standards/.
- 69. Porter, William, Kelly James, Kelly, Robert Medina, and Barbara Chow. "Funder Collaborations — Flourish or Flounder?" *The Foundation Review* 9, no. 4 (2017). https://scholarworks.gvsu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1389&context=tfr.
- 70. Proscio, Tony. "Advocacy Funding: The Philanthropy of Changing Minds." Grantcraft, March 1, 2017. http://www.grantcraft.org/guides/advocacy-funding.
- 71. Putnam-Walkerly, Kris. "Unlikely Allies Unite for a Policy Win." Putnam Consulting Group, Inc., May 9, 2015. http://www.grantcraft.org/blog/unlikely-allies-unite-for-apolicy-win.
- 72. Rojc, Philip. "A New Generation: How a Funders' Collaborative Sees the Prospects for Youth Organizing." *Inside Philanthropy*, January 16, 2018. https://www.insidephilanthropy.com/home/2018/1/16/a-new-generation-how-a-funders-collaborative-sees-the-prospects-for-youth-organizing.
- 73. Russell, Patty. "Public-Philanthropic Collaboratives: Finding a Partner in Uncle Sam." FSG, September 25, 2011. https://www.fsg.org/blog/public-philanthropiccollaboratives-finding-partner-uncle-sam.
- 74. Ryan, William and Barbara Taylor. "An Experiment in Scaling Impact: Assessing the Growth Capital Aggregation Pilot." Edna McConnell Clark Foundation, December 2012. www.emcf.org/fileadmin/media/PDFs/GCAPReport\_Final.pdf.
- 75. Salamon, Lester. *New Frontiers of Philanthropy: A Guide to the New Tools and New Actors that Are Reshaping Global Philanthropy and Social Investing.* New York: Oxford University Press, 2014.
- 76. Schambra, William A. "One Cheer for Collaboration." *Philanthropy*, April 1, 2003.
- 77. Scheie, David, Ebony Roberts, and Sida Ly-Xiong. "Smart Collaboration at the Grassroots Level: Emerging Lessons from Detroit's Community Connections

Program." Touchstone Center for Collaborative Inquiry, June 2014. http://www. grassrootsgrantmakers.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/Smart-Collaboration-atthe-Grassroots-Level.pdf.

- Seldon, Willa and Judy Huang. "Lessons in Funder Collaboration: What the Packard Foundation Has Learned about Working with Other Funders." The Bridgespan Group, 2014. https://www.packard.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/Lessons-in-Funder-Collaboration.pdf.
- 79. Seldon, Willa. "Five Guidelines for Successful Funder Collaborations." *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, November 3, 2015. https://ssir.org/articles/entry/five\_guidelines\_for\_successful\_funder\_collaborations.
- 80. Shah, Shivam Mallick and Michelle Jolin. "Social Sector Innovation Funds: Lessons Learned and Recommendations." Center for American Progress, November 2012. https:// www.americanprogress.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/11/JolinInnovationFunds-2.pdf.
- 81. Sherry Consulting. "Philanthropic Issue Funds: Impact Opportunities for Donors and Nonprofits." The Raikes Foundation and Sherry Consulting, March 2018. https://raikesfoundation.org/blog/posts/philanthropic-issue-funds-offer-impactopportunities-donors-and-nonprofits.
- 82. Sherry Consulting, "Field Scan of Philanthropic Funds and Online Platforms." The Raikes Foundation and Blue Meridian Partners. June 2017.
- 83. Silver, Ira. Unequal Partnerships: Beyond the Rhetoric of Philanthropic Collaboration. York: Routledge (2005).
- 84. Simonin, Bernard, May Samali, Nada Zohdy, and Nathalie Laidler-Kylandar. "Why and How Do Nonprofits Work Together?" *Philanthropy News Digest*, May 19, 2016. http:// philanthropynewsdigest.org/columns/the-sustainable-nonprofit/why-and-how-dononprofits-work-together.
- Soskis, Benjamin and Stanley Katz. "Looking Back at 50 years of U.S. Philanthropy." Commissioned for the William and Flora Hewlett Foundation's 50th Anniversary Symposium, December 5, 2016. https://www.hewlett.org/wp-content/uploads/ 2016/12/50-Years-of-U.S.-Philanthropy.pdf.
- 86. Stachowiak, Sarah and Lauren Gase. "Does Collective Impact Really Make an Impact?" *Stanford Social Innovation Review,* August 2018. https://ssir.org/articles/entry/does\_collective\_impact\_really\_make\_an\_impact?utm\_source=Enews&utm\_medium=Email&utm\_campaign=SSIR\_Now&utm\_content=Title.
- 87. "Stronger Together: The Power of Funder Collaboration." The New York Community Trust, August 2016. https://www.nycommunitytrust.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/ 04/NYCT-CollabFunds2016.pd.
- Surka, Matt. "Social Innovation Fund Scales the National Fund: A Model that Works." National Fund for Workforce Solutions, February 2017. www.nationalfund.org/wpcontent/uploads/2017/02/SIF-Report\_2017-02-22\_high-res.pdf.
- 89. Theroux, Karen. "Four Freedoms Fund: A Pioneering Foundation Partnership Advocates for Immigrants." *Carnegie Results,* Winter 2008, https://www.carnegie. org/media/filer\_public/7c/74/7c744b4f-101f-4f4f-893e-3698675a62ad/ccny\_ cresults\_2008\_fourfreedoms.pdf.

- 90. Tierney, Thomas J., Willa Seldon, and Gihani Fernando. "High Stakes Donor Collaborations." *Stanford Social Innovation Review,* Spring 2013. https://ssir.org/ articles/entry/high\_stakes\_donor\_collaborations.
- 91. Tierney, Thomas J. "Higher Impact Philanthropy: Applying business principles to philanthropic strategies." *Philanthropy*, February 2007. https://www.bridgespan.org/insights/library/philanthropy/higher-impact-philanthropy.
- 92. Tuan, Melinda T. "A Midpoint Report on the True North Fund." Edna McConnell Clark Foundation, February 2014. www.emcf.org/fileadmin/media/PDFs/EMCF\_ TNFMidpointReport2014.pdf.
- 93. Wei-Skillern, Jane. "Funding Successful Collaborations." FSG, June 2012. https://www.fsg.org/blog/funding-successful-collaborations.
- Widome, Daniel. "Engage Donors to Increase Impact." New Venture Fund, November 2013, http://www.newventurefund.org/wp-content/uploads/AECF-Public-Report-6.5.13.pdf.
- 95. Windle, Angie. "A Recipe for Good Collaboration." Stars Foundation, December 1, 2015. http://www.grantcraft.org/blog/a-recipe-for-good-collaboration.
- 96. Woodwell Jr., William H. "Collaborative Funding for Greater Impact: A Case Study of the Cincinnati Experience, Lessons Learned from the Social Innovation Fund." Grantmakers for Effective Organizations, April 25, 2012. https://www.geofunders.org/ resources/collaborative-funding-for-greater-impact-a-case-study-of-the-cincinnatiexperience-lessons-learned-from-the-social-innovation-fund-620.
- 97. Woodwell Jr., William H. and Cathy Cha. "Bolder Together 2: Building Grassroots Movements for Social Change." California Civic Participation Funders, April 2016. https://www.haasjr.org/sites/default/files/resources/Bolder%20Together%202.pdf.
- 98. "A Statement of Values, to Guide Philanthropic Collaboration." The Bridgespan Group, Arabella, Collective Impact Forum, Community Wealth Partners, Grantmakers for Effective Organizations, Grantcraft, TCC Group, and MAG, August 2017. https://www. inphilanthropy.org/news/statement-values-guide-philanthropic-collaboration.
- 99. "Best Practices of Collaboration." The Connect U.S. Fund, March 2016. http://www.grantcraft.org/blog/best-practices-of-collaboration.
- 100. "Catalyzing Regional Economic Transformation: Lessons from Funder Collaborations in Northeast Ohio." John S. and James L. Knight Foundation and FutureWorks, October 2013. https://www.knightfoundation.org/media/uploads/publication\_pdfs/ KF\_Report-Economic-Transformation-sml.pdf.
- 101. "Challenges: Funder Testimonials." Grantcraft, January 2010. http://www.grantcraft.org/takeaways/challenges-funder-testimonials.
- 102. "Collaboration and Partnership." William and Flora Hewlett Foundation. www.hewlett.org/collaboration-and-partnership.
- 103. "Common Collaboration Problems + Tactics." Grantcraft, January 2010. http://www.grantcraft.org/takeaways/common-collaboration-problems-tactics.

- 104. "Common Focus: What Brings Funder Collaboratives Together." Grantcraft, January 2010. http://www.grantcraft.org/takeaways/common-focus-what-brings-funder-collaboratives-together.
- 105. "Donor Collaboration: Power in Numbers." The Philanthropic Initiative, April 2014. http://www.tpi.org/sites/default/files/pdf/tpi\_donor\_collaboration\_primer\_-\_power\_ in\_numbers.pdf.
- 106. "Findings and Lessons from the HCAN Campaign." Grassroots Solutions and M R Strategic Services, September 21, 2010. www.atlanticphilanthropies.org/evaluations/ hcan-evaluation-executive-summary.
- 107. "Focus and Function: Designing a Collaborative to Fit the Purpose." Grantcraft, January 1, 2010. http://www.grantcraft.org/takeaways/focus-and-function-designinga-collaborative-to-fit-the-purpose.
- 108. "Foundation Collaboration: Peers Helping Peers—Improving the Practice of Philanthropy." Grantcraft, February 2014. http://www.grantcraft.org/takeaways/ foundation-collaboration.
- 109. "Funder Collaboration: Is It Worth It?" Institute for Voluntary Action Research, January 2016. http://www.thebromleytrust.org.uk/files/csefa\_ivar\_report.pdf.
- 110. "Getting Funder Collaboration Right: How to Begin." Grantcraft, July 13, 2012. http:// www.grantcraft.org/takeaways/getting-funder-collaboration-right.
- 111. "Health Philanthropy: New Players and New Approaches." Grantmakers in Health; Arabella Advisors, November 2013, https://ncg.org/sites/default/files/resources/ Health\_Philanthropy\_New\_Players\_and\_Approaches\_November\_2013.pdf.
- 112. "How Can We Prepare for Collaboration?" Grantmakers for Effective Organizations. February 4, 2017. https://www.geofunders.org/resources/how-can-we-prepare-forcollaboration-866.
- 113. "How Do We Determine the Right Role to Play in Collaboration?" Grantmakers for Effective Organizations, October 8, 2015. https://www.geofunders.org/resources/howdo-we-determine-the-right-role-to-play-in-collaboration-860.
- 114. "How Philanthropists Can Collaborate for Better Results." The Bridgespan Group. https://www.bridgespan.org/insights/library/philanthropy/how-philanthropists-cancollaborate-for-results.
- 115. "Managing a Funder Collaborative: From Grantcraft's Reflection and Practice Video Series." Grantcraft, March 22, 2008. http://www.grantcraft.org/videos/managing-a-funders-collaborative.
- 116. "Nuts and Bolts of Collaboration." Grantcraft, January 1, 2010. http://www.grantcraft. org/takeaways/nuts-and-bolts-of-collaboration.
- 117. "Organizing for Good Relationships and Outcomes." Grantcraft, January 1, 2010. http://www.grantcraft.org/takeaways/organizing-for-good-relationships-andoutcomes.
- 118. "Promise and Pitfalls of Local and National Funder Collaborations." Grantmakers for Effective Organizations, November 2013. https://www.cnjg.org/sites/default/ files/resources/The%20Promise%20and%20Pitfalls%20of%20Local%20and%20 National%20Funder%20Collaborations.pdf.

- 119. "The 'Messiness' of Collaborative Relationships." Grantcraft, January 2010. http://www. grantcraft.org/takeaways/the-messiness-of-collaborative-relationships.
- 120. "The Benefit of Funder Collaboratives." Grantcraft, January 9, 2016. http://www. grantcraft.org/takeaways/the-benefit-of-funder-collaboratives.
- 121. "The Dos and Don'ts of Working with Local Funders." Association of Baltimore Area Grantmakers, January 2005.
- 122. "The Power of Funder Collaboration." The New York Community Trust, August 2016. http://www.nycommunitytrust.org/Portals/0/Uploads/Documents/Public/NYCT-CollabFunds2016.pdf.
- 123. "Types of Funder Collaboratives." Grantcraft, January 1, 2010. http://www.grantcraft. org/takeaways/types-of-funder-collaboratives.
- 124. "Venture Philanthropy 2002: Advancing Nonprofit Performance through High-Engagement Grantmaking." Venture Philanthropy Partners, Community Wealth Ventures, and Community Foundation for National Capital Region, 2002.
- 125. "What Funder Collaboratives Are and Aren't." Grantcraft, January 1, 2010. http://www.grantcraft.org/takeaways/what-funder-collaboratives-are-and-arent.
- 126. "Why Collaborate?" Grantcraft, February 11, 2016. http://www.grantcraft.org/ takeaways/why-collaborate.

## C. Illustrative list of funder collaborations

The 30 funder collaborations below include a range of collaborative fund types cited in the literature. They are intended neither to be comprehensive nor representative of the funder collaboration field. They are organized by funder collaboration type and chronologically within each type.

Fund name	Year est.	Issue focus	Geographic focus		
Alliance: Funders partner to exchange ideas and raise awareness					
Grantmakers for Education	1995	Education	US		
BC Freshwater Funders Collaborative	2014	Environment	British Columbia		
California Common Core Funders Collaborative	2014	Education	US		
<b>Coordinate or Match:</b> Funders agree upon shared or complementary strategies, exchange ideas on an ongoing basis, and invest in aligned causes					
Communities for Public Education	2006	Education	US		
Big Bang Philanthropy	2011	Poverty alleviation	Global		
True North Fund	2011	Youth development	US		

Fund name	Year est.	Issue focus	Geographic focus
<b>Co-Invest:</b> Donors to support a spe	cific initiativ	e or organization along	side one another
Great Bear Rainforest of British Columbia	2000	Environment	US
Central City Collaborative	2006	Community development	New Orleans
Pew Charitable Trusts Global Ocean Legacy	2006	Environment	Global
California Immigrant Integration Initiative	2007	Immigration	California
Co-Invest: Donors to support a spe	cific initiativ	e or organization along	side one another
Campaign for Grade Level Reading	2010	Education	US
Silicon Valley Out of School Time Collaborative	2010	Youth development	US
The Grand Bargain	2013	Community development	Detroit
Collective Impact Project (Centraide of Greater Montreal)	2016	Community development	Canada
Art for Justice Fund (Ford Foundation)	2017	Criminal justice	US
New-Co: Funders create that gives		st in a new entity or ini erates programs	tiative
Robin Hood Foundation	1988	Poverty alleviation	New York City
Energy Foundation	1991	Environment	Global
Living Cities	1991	Urban development	US
NewSchools Venture Fund	1998	Education	US
Strategic Grant Partners	2002	Youth development	Massachusetts
Four Freedoms Fund	2003	Immigration	US
Charter School Growth Fund	2006	Education	US
ClimateWorks Foundation	2008	Environment	Global
Disability Rights Fund	2008	Human Rights	Global
Oceans 5	2011	Environment	Global
END Fund	2012	Global health	Global
Kigali Cooling Efficiency (K-CEP)	2016	Environment	Global

Fund name	Year est.	Issue focus	Geographic focus		
Fund the Funder: Funders invest in another funder with strong expertise in a content area					
Security & Rights Collaborative (Proteus Fund)	1996	Democracy	US		
Growth Capital Aggregation Pilot (EMCF)	2007	Youth development	US		
African-American Cultural Heritage Action Fund (National Trust for Historic Preservation)	2017	Racial equity	US		

## D. Acknowledgements

Special thanks to several of our Bridgespan colleagues for their contributions, including Zach Crago, Carole Matthews, Bradley Seeman, and Susan Wolf Ditkoff.

Alongside Fay Twersky, director of the Effective Philanthropy Group at the William and Flora Hewlett Foundation, funding for the work was provided by Allison Harvey Turner, Environment program director for S. D. Bechtel at Jr. Foundation; Betsy Krebs, vice president or Poverty at JPB Foundation; Leonardo Lacerda, director of the Environment Programme at the Oak Foundation; Kathy Reich, director of Building Institutions and Networks (BUILD) at the Ford Foundation; and Darcy Riddell, director of Strategic Learning at the McConnell Foundation. These funders also serve on the initiative's steering committee alongside Susan Bell, principal of Susan Bell & Associates; Julia Coffman, founder and director of the Center for Evaluation Innovation; and Stephanie Gillis, senior advisor of the Impact Driven Philanthropy Initiative for the Raikes Foundation.

#### THE BRIDGESPAN GROUP

BOSTON 2 Copley Place, 7th Floor, Suite 3700B, Boston, MA 02116 USA. Tel: +1 617 572 2833
NEW YORK 112 West 34th St., Ste. 1510, New York, NY 10120 USA. Tel: +1 646 562 8900
SAN FRANCISCO 88 Kearny St., Ste. 200, San Francisco, CA 94108 USA. Tel: +1 415 627 4500
MUMBAI Bridgespan India Private Limited (registered address) 9th Floor, Platina, G Block, Plot C 59, Bandra Kurla Complex, Mumbai, Maharashtra, 400051, India. Tel: +91 022 6628 9624



www.bridgespan.org

contact@bridgespan.org contactindia@bridgespan.org

This work is licensed under the Creative Commons BY-NC-ND License. To view a copy of this license, visit http://www.bridgespan.org/about-us/terms-and-conditions